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(continued)

Directors’ Report

Your directors present their repont on the consolidated entity {referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of Virtus Health Pty
Limited and the entities it controfied at the end of, or during, the year endad 30 June 2012,

Directors
The following persons were directors of Virtus Health Pty Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this
repori:

Marcus Darville
Susan Channon
Frank Quinn
Simon Pither
John McBain
John Moller
John Esler
Andrew Othen

Michael Chapman, Manuela Toledo and Keith Harrison were reappointed as alternate directors and continue in office at the date
of this report.

Principal activities )
During the year the principal continuing activities of the Group were the provision of fertility services, ‘n?edlcal'day proce.dure
services and medical diagnostic services. There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the period.

Dividends - Virtus Health Pty Limited

Since the end of the financial year, the directors have paid an ordinary dividend of $45,833,685 (82 cents per ordinary share). The
dividend was paid on 17 August 2012 out of retained earnings at 30 June 2012. Furthermore, a capital return of $55,335,791 (29
cents per ordinary share) was paid on 7 September 2012.

Review of operations .
The Group continued to engage in its principal activilies, the results of which are disclosed in the attached financial statements.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the group during the financial year were as follows:

Acquisition of Queensland Fertility Group Gold Coast

On 29 July 2011 Virtus Health Pty Limited, through its wholly owned subsidiary Queensland Fertility Group Pty Limited, acq‘uired
100% of the issued share capital Fertility Gold Coasl Pty Limited for a consideration of $5.063 million paid in cash and the issue
of ordinary shares in Virtus Health Pty Limited. The cash element of the acquisition was funded by a drawdown from the Group
capital expenditure facility.

Acquisition of Mackay Day Surgery

On 31 January 2012, Virtus Health Pty Limited, through iis wholly owned subsidiary Queensland F_ertiliiy G'roup Piy Limited,
acquired the business, assets and liabilities of Mackay Day Surgery Pty Limited. The net assets acquired consisted of $374,000
of plant and equipment, liabilities totalling $19,000 and $155,000 of goodwill,
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{continued)

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

Acquisition of Maroubra Day Surgery

On 7 August 2012, Virlus Health Pty Limited, through its wholly owned subsidiary [VF Australia Ply Limiled, acquired the
remaining 50% of the issued share of Maroubra Day Surgery Pty Limited for a cash consideration of $7.100 million. The
acquisition was funded by a drawdown from the Group capital expenditure facility and existing cash.

Refinancing of the borrowing facility

On 16 August 2012, IVF Finance Pty Limited, a subsidiary of Virus Health Pty Limited successfully renegotiated the external
borrowing facility for a total of $225,000,000, with an initial expiry date of 17 August 2013. The funds were used to pay an ordinary
dividend of $45,833,685 (82 cents per ordinary share) on 17 August 2012. A capital return of $55,335,791 (99 cenls per ordinary
share) was paid on 7 September 2012.

The financial effecis of these transaclions have nof been brought to account as at 30 June 2012. The operating resulls, assets
and liabilities of the Maroubra Day Surgery will be consolidated from 7 August 2012.

Except for the mallers discussed above, no cther matier or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2012 that has significantly
affected, or may significantly affect:

(a) the group's operations in future financial years, or
(b} the results of those operations in future financial years, or
(c) the group's state of affairs in fulure financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected rasuits of operati_ons have not been
included in this annual report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

Shares under option
Unissued ordinary shares of Virtus Health Pty Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Option Number

Date options exercise under

granted Expiry date price option
10 April 2008* 18 February 2015 $1.64 60,976
10 April 2008" 1 January 2016 $3.15 183,496
10 Aprit 2008* 14 February 2017 $3.15 216,075
10 April 2008* 1 January 2018 $3.26 228,100
10 April 2008 10 April 2018 $2.98 9,000
10 April 2008 10 April 2018 $2.53 1,550,000
10 April 2008 10 April 2018 $0.01 403,536
12 November 2008 12 November 2018 §4.12 312,527
20 November 2008 20 November 2018 $0.00 272,470
25 February 2009 25 February 2019 $4.12 41,000
01 July 2009 01 July 2019 $3.11 450,000
01 Oclober 2009 01 October 2018 $3.11 241,491
01 July 2010 01 July 2020 $4.71 200,000
01 September 2010 01 September 2020 $4.71 233,546
01 July 2011 01 July 2021 $5.17 258,027
4,660,244

*These oplions were issued Lo replaco options previous

Neo option holder has any right under the opti

ty hald in IVF Australia Pty Lemited folowing the acguisition of IVF Sub-Holdings Ply Limitad by Virtus Health Ply Umiled.

ong to participate in any other share issue of the company or any other entity.
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{continued)

Insurance of officers
During the financlal year, Virtus Health Pty Limited paid a premium of $25,000 to insure the direclors and secretaries of the
Company and its Australian-based controlled entities, and the managing directors of each of the divisions of the Group.

The liabilities insured are legal costs thal may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought
against the officers in their capacity as officers of entilies in the Group, and any other paymenis arising from liabilities Incurred
by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a
wilful breach of duty by ihe officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information o gain advantage for
themselves or someone else or 1o cause defriment to the company. It is not possible to apportion the premium between
amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.

Proceedings on behalf of the company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of
the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on
behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.

Mo proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Caurt under section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001,

Environmental regutation
The group is not subject to significant environmental regulation.

Auditor's independence declaration
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 6.

Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind refarred to in Class Order 98100, issued by the Australian Securilies and Invesimenis
Commission, felating to the "rounding off* of amounts in the directors' report. Amounts in the directors' report have been
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar,

Auditor
PwC continues in office in accordance with section 325 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of direclors.

Jo L LW

Marcus Darville
Director

Sydney

31 October 2012




Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Virtus Health Pty Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, I declare
that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

1) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in refation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Virtus Health Pty Limited and the entities it controlled during the

period.

L CLC L} //{LLA,

Eddie Wilkie Sydney
Partner 31 October 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Streel, GPO BOX 2650,SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney, Australia

T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8286 9999, wiww.puc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professienal Standards Legislation,
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These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of the consolidated entity consisting of Virtus Health Pty
Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency.

Virtus Health Pty Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. lls registered office and
principal place of business is:

Virtus Health Pty Limited
Level 3

176 Pacific Highway
Greenwich NSW 2065

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the review of
operalions in the directors’ repert on pages 3 to 5, which s not part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 31 October 2012. The directors have the power to
amend and relssue the financial statements.
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Virtus Health Pty Limited
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 30 June 2012

2012 2011
Notes $°000 $'000

Revenue from continuing operations 4 165,119 131,897
Other income 5 3692 817
Surgeon, consumables and associaled cost

9 S8 s (44,674) (34,101)
Occupancy expenses (8,813) (7.213)
Employee benefils expense {47,805) {39,7586)
Advertising & marketing {2,700) {1,803)
Practice equipment expenses {1.274) (817)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (8,972) (8,277}
Finance costs 6 {13,796) {12,611}
Professional and consulting fees (3,017} (2,680}
Other expenses (9,500} (6,900)
Share of net profit of associates accounted for using the equity method 1,436 1,066
Profit before income tax 26,373 19,622
Income tax expense 7 (6,713} (4,285}
Profit for the year 19,660 15,337
Other comprehensive income " -
Total comprehensive Income is attributable to:
equity holders of Virtus Health Pty Limited 19,660 15,337

The above consclidated statemeni of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalenis
Trade and other receivables
inventories

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Invastments accounted for using the equity method
Other financial assets

Derivative financial instruments

Property, plant and equipment

Deferred tax assets

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current liabliitles

Trace and other payables
Deferred revenue
Borrowings

Provisions

Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Derivative financial liabilities
Provisions

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets
EQUITY

Contributed equity
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity

Virtus Health Pty Limited
Consolidated balance sheet
As at 30 June 2012

2012 2011
Notes $'000 $'000

8 9,439 6,963

g 9,613 8,191
10 - 120
19,052 15,274

11 3,913 3,822
12 241 208
13 138
14 22,596 20,159
15 3,329 1,428
16 312,528 309,816
342,608 335,569

361,660 350,843

17 15,450 13,299
3,973 3,338

18 14,240 18,383
21 1,561 1,090
5,320 5,922

40,544 43,032
19 89,267 99,204
13 3,217 2,387
21 3,641 2,911
96,125 104,502

136,669 147,534
224,991 203,309
22 184,815 183,308
23(a) 3,259 2,743
23(b) 36,917 17,257
224 931 203,309

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Balance at 1 July 2010

Profit for the year

Cther comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners In their capacity as
owners:

Equity issued for acquisition consideration
Subscription for new shares

Issued {0 employees

Employee share oplions - value of employee services

Balance at 30 June 2011

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Transactions with ownars in their capacity as
oWners:

Equity issued for acquisition consideration

Employee share options - value of employee services

Balance at 30 June 2012

Notes

22,29

22,23
6,34

22,29
6.34

Virtus Heaith Pty Limited
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Attributable to owners of the parent

Share Based
Contributed Payments Retained Total
equity Reserve earnings equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'600
170,360 2,287 1,920 174,567
- - 15,337 15,337
: : 15,337 15,337
12,458 - - 12,458
459 - - 459
32 (169) - {137)
- 625 - 625
12,949 456 - 13.405
183,309 2,743 17,257 203,308
- - 19,660 19,660
- : 19,660 19,660
1,506 - - 1,506
- 5186 - 518
1.506 516 - 2,022
184,815 3,259 36,917 224 991

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers {inclusive of goods and services tax}

Paymenis to suppliers and employees {inclusive of goods and services tax)
Other revenue

Finance costs paid

Income laxes paid

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities

Paymenl for acquisition of subsidiary and businesses, net of cash acquired
Paymenis for property, plant, equipment and intangibles

Payments for acquisition of assoclates

Associate distributions received

Proceads on sale of property, plant & equipment

Interest received

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceads from issues of shares and other equily securities
Paymeni for shares bought back

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Payment for finance lease facility

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net increase / (decrease]) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The above consalidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Virtus Health Pty Limited
Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 30 June 2012

2012 2011
Notes $'000 $'000
164,125 119,509
(112,370) (84,204)
369 242
(12,813} (12,611)
{10,200} {167}
33 20,111 22769
{4,035) (14,408)
{8,521} (8,165)
(91} (1,397)
642 apo
- 510
433 466
{11,572} (22,0921
- 201
. (169)
- 18,807
(14,481) (20,606)
{582) (728}
{15,063} {2,495}
2,476 {1,818}
6,963 B.781
8 0439 6.963
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Virtus Health Pty Limited

Notes to the consolidated financlal statements
30 June 2012

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements ars set out below.
Unless otherwise stated, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year. Comparative
information is reclassified where appropriate to enhance comparability. The financial statements are for the consolidated
entity consisting of Virtus Health Pty Limited and its subsidiaries.

{a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting_ Standards and
interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Virtus Health Pty
Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing financial statements.

{ii Compliance with IFRS ‘ i .
The consolidated financial statements of the Virtus Health Pty Limited group also comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(i} New and amended standards adopled by the Group ) o
None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time for the ﬁnaqcnal year beginning
1 July 2011 affected any of the amounts recognised in the current period or any prior period and are not likely to affect future
periods.

(i) Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation qf
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities {including derivative inslruments) at fair value through profit
or loss, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and investment property.

(iv) Critical accounting estimales

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requirfas management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group's accounting policies. The areas involving & higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed
in note 3.

(v) Going Concermn N -
Al 30 June 2012 the consolidated entity had a current net assel deficiency of $21.492 million (2011; 527.758 million) arising
primarily from its deferred revenue receipts of $3.973 million (2011: $3.338 million} and short term borrowings of $14.240
million (2011: $18.383 million). These deficiencies are a normal feature of the consolidated entity's activities and the deferred
revenue is normally racognised within six weeks of receipl.

Having reviewed and considered the expected cash flows and the working capital, capital expenditure and loan fgcilittes
available to the consolidated entity which were renegotiated and increased in August 2012 (see note 19 and 32), the directors
and management have formed the view that the consolidated entity will continue as a going concer for a period of at least 12
months from the date of this report and conseguently will realise its assets and extinguish its liabifities in the normal course of
business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.

The financial report for the Consolidated Enlity has therefore been prepared on a going concem basis.

{b) Principles of consolidation

(i)  Subsidiaries -
The consolidated financial stalements incorporate the assets and liabitities of all subsidiaries of Virus Heatlth Ply Limited
("company" or "parent entity”) as at 30 June 2012 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Virtus Hea}th Ply
Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all entities {including special purpose entities) over which the group has the power to governthe ﬁ_nancual and
operaling policles, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of polential voting rights that are currently exercisable or converlible are considered when assessing whether the group
controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully conselidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases.

13



Virtus Health Pty Limited
Motes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2012

{continued}

Intercompany transaclions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also efiminated unless the fransaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted hy
the group.

{ii) Associales

The interest in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. Under the
equity method, the share of the profits or losses of the associale is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income,
and the share of movements in reserves is recognised in reserves in the balance sheet.  Details relating to the associates are
set oul in note 31.

Profits or losses on transactions establishing the associates and transactions with the associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's ownership interest until such time as they are realised by the associates on consumption or sale, unless they
relate to an unrealised loss that provides evidence of the impairment of an asset transferred.

(c) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or raceivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of
returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be rellably measured, it is probable that future econcmic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the group's activities as described below. The
group bases ils estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
(i) Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to a patient or customer. Revenue is
recognised on completion of a medical procedure, on supply of drugs, or on completion of an analytical test. If payments
received from patients exceed the revenue recognised the difference is disclosed as deferred revenue.

{i} Leaseincome

Lease income from property sub-leases is recognised as income on a straight-fine basis over the lease term,
(i) Interestincome

Interest incorne is recognised on a time apportioned basis using the effective interest method.

(ivy  Deferred revenue

Fees for ferlility treatment cycles paid in advance are recognised as deferred revenue until the service has been provided
whereupon the fees are recognised as revenue

(d} Sponsorship

Sponsorship grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period
necessary to malch them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

{e} Income tax

The income tax expense or revenua for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxabk_a iqqqme ba§ed on the
applicable income lax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 1o
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calcuialed on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the en_c! of the
reporting period in the countries where the company's subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management pericdically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject lo interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assels and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial stalements. However, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the {ime of the
transaction affacts neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using lax rates {(and laws})
ihat have hbeen enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax assel is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settied.

14



Virtus Health Pty Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2012

{continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and Habilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except (o the extent that il relales to items recognised in‘other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively,

(i Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases {note 27). Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased
property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in other shori-term and long-lerm payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease period so as ta produce a constant periadic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
isases is depraciated over the asset's useful life or over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term if there is no
reasonable cerainty that the group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the group as lessee are
classified as operating leasas (note 27). Payments made under operating leases {net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the jeass,

{g) Business combinations

The purchase price method of accounting is used 10 account for all business combinations, except for business combinations
involving entities or businesses under common contro, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. Costis measured as the fair value of the assets given, equily instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange. Costs directly allributable lo the acquisition are expensed. Where aquity instruments are issued in
an acquisition, the fair value of the instruments is their published market price are expensed as at the date of exchange
unless, in rare circumstances, il can be demonstrated that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable
indicator of fair value and thal other evidence and valuation metheds provide a more reliable measure of fair value.
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised as a deduction, nel of tax, from the proceeds.

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured inilially
at their fair values at the acquisition date, imespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable nel assets acquired Is recorded as goodwill (refer to_ qoie
1{o0)). If the cost of acquisition is less than the Group's share of the fair vaiue of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income, but only after a reassassment of the
identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration Is deferred, the amounts payable In the fulure are disco.unted to their
presenl value as al the date of exchange. The discount rale used is the entity's incremental borrowing rate, being the rale at
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable lerms and conditions.

{h) Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assels are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's ¢arrying amount excesds its recoverable
amount,

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assels or groups of assels (cash-generating units}).
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Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.,

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Far the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash fiows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held al call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months orless
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafis. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current llabllities in the balance sheet.

(j) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amorlised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. They are
presented as current assets unless callaction is not expected for more than 12 months after the reporting date.

Collectabilty of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off
oy reducing the carrying amount directly. An allowance account {provision far impairment of lrade receivables) is used when
there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due accorging to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amouqt and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to
short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The amount of the impairment foss is recognised in profit or ioss within other expenses. When a t{ac_ie regeivable forv«fhich an
impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is wrilten off agalnst the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously wrilten off are credited against other expenses in profit or
loss.

(k) Inventories

Inventory comprises medical supplies used in the fertility procedures performed in the Group’s fertility clinics. Inventories
are valued al the lower of cost and net realisable value,

() Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The group classifies its financials assets in lhe following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on .tlje
purpose far which Lhe investments were acquired. Management delermines the classification of lis investments at lm‘llal
recognition and, in the case of assels classified as held-lo-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting
period.

Recognition and derecognition .
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the group commils to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial agsets have expired
or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value ad}ustmgpts recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss as gains and losses from investment securities.

impairment

The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significa_tnt or prolonged decline in the
fair value of a security below its costis considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired.

If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the differer}ce bglween
{he acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. impairment losses recognised
in the stalement of comprehensive income on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through the
statement of comprehensive income.

16



Virtus Health Pty Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2012

{continued)

(m) Derivatives and hedging activities

Derfvatives are Initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting perlod. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, {he nature of the item being hedged. The
group designates certain derivatives as either:

e hedges of the fair value of reccgnised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges)
° hedges of the cash flows of recognised assets ang liabilities and highty probable forecast transactions {cash flow
hedges).

The Group has decided not lo adopt hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any fair value financial instrument are
recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income and are included in finance costs.

{n} Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment Is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the agset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separale asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced asset is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight line method to allocate {heir cost amounts, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

- Leasehold improvements Over the life of the lease or useful life if shorler
- Medical equipment 2 1o 10 years

- Office equipment 2 to 5 years

- Furniture, fitlings 2 to S years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An assel's carrying amaunt is wrilten down immediately lo its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount {note 1({h}).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or
loss.

{0) intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assels. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in
investments in associates. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cosl less accumulated impairment losses. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating te the entily sold.

Goadwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash-generating units
represents the Group's invesiment in each primary reporting segment.

(i} IT development and software

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to
future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and systems.
Costs capitalised include external direct costs of materials and service, direct payroll and payroll related costs of employees’
time spent on the project. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over periods generally ranging from 1 1o 5 years,

IT development costs include only those costs directly aftributable to the development phases and are only recognised
following compietion of technical feasibility and where the Group has an intention and ability to use the assel.
(p) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services pravided to the Group pricr 1o he end of financial year which are
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within agreed credit ierms.
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{g) Borrowings

Borrowings are Initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at
amonrlised cosl. Any difference between the praceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on
the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are
recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the facility.

Barrowings are remaved from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
other income or other expenses. Any unameortised transaction costs relating to the extinguished obligation are taken lo the
statement of comprehensive income upon extinguishment of the abligation.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an uncanditional right 1o defer seltlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting date.

{r} Provislons

Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an cutflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not racognised for future operating losses,

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likefihood that an outflow will be required in seltlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the iikelihood of an cutflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's bes! estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of each reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflacts current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(s} Employee benefits

(it Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be
seltled within 12 months afler the end of each reporling period in which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporling period and are measured atthe amounls expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(i) Other long-term employee benefit cbligations

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employae benefits and measured as the present value of
expected future payments lo be made in respedt of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period
using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields al the end of the
reporling period on national government bonds with temms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.

(iii}  Share-based paymenis
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Virtus Health Pty Limited Share Option Plan and other
closed share option schemes. Information relating te these schemes is set out in note 34,

The fair value of options granted under the plans is recognised as an employee benefil expense witf) a corresponding
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised aver the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the aptions.

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Binomial option pricing mode! that takes into account the
exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at grant date and expected prica volatility of the underlying share, the
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets). Non-market vesling conditions are included in assumplions about the number of opti_ons that are
expected to become exercisable. At each reporting date, the entity revises Its estimate of the number of options that are
expecled to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the rr'tostl recent
estimate. The impact of the revision 1o original estimales, if any, is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

{iv) Profit-sharing and bonus plans )
The group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that takqs into
consideration the profit atiributable to the company's shareholders after cerlain adjustments. The group recognises a
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provision where conlractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a construciive obligation,

{vi Terminalion benefifs

Terminatlon benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises lermination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan
without possibility of withdrawal or to providing termination benefils as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months afier the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

{t} Confributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs direclly attributable o the issue of new shares or oplions are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a
business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration,

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back, those instruments are
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss and the
consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognised directly in equily.

(u) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of
the entity, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date.

{v} Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assels are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, uniess the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included within other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presenied as operating cash flows.

{w) Tax consolidation legislation

Virus Health Pty Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group and are therefore taxed as
a single entity. The head entity within the tax consolidated group is Virtus Health Pty Limited.

The head entity, Virlus Heaith Pty Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own
current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues
io be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Virtus Health Pty Limited
also recognises the current lax liabifites (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused lax losses and unused
tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.

The wholly owned entities fully compensate Virlus Health Pty Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are
compensated by Virus Health Pty Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses
or unused tax credits that are transferred to Virtus Health Pty Limited under the tax consolidation legislation. These amounts
are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly owned entitles' financial statements.

The tax amounts receivable/payable are due upon request from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practipable_ aﬂ.er
the end of each financial year. The head entity may aiso require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its
obligations to pay tax instalments.

Assets or liabilities arising with tax consolidated entilies are recognised as currenl amounis receivabie from or payabl'e o
other entities in the group. Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable are recognised
as a contribution to {or distribution from) wholly owned lax consolidated entities.

{x) Rounding of amounts

The company Is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issused by the Australian Securities and Investrments Commission,
relating to the ‘rounding off' of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off
in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.
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{y) New accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretalions have been published that are nol mandatory for 30 June 2012 reporting
periods. The group's assessment of the impact of these new standards and inlerpretations is set out below.

(iy AASB 9 Financial instruments, AASB 2008-11 Amendments {o Australian Accounling Standards arising from AASB 9
and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 {December 2010) (effaclive from 1
January 2013)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses lhe classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and is likely to
affect the group's accounting for its financial assets and financial liabilities. The standard is not applicable until 1 January
2013 but is available for early adoption. When adopted, the standard will affect in particular the group's accounting for its
available-for-sale financial assets, since AASB 9 only permits the recognition of fair value gains and losses in other
comprehensive income if they relate 1o equily investmenls that are not held for trading. Fair value gains and losses on
available-for-sale debt investments, for example, will therefore have to be recognised directly in profit or loss.

There will be no impact on the group’s accounting for financial liabllilies, as the new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss and the group does not have any such liabilities.
The derecognition rules have been transferred from AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
have not been changed. The group will adopt AASB @ in financial year ending 30 June 2014.

(i) AASB 10 Consofidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosura of Interests in Other
Entities, revised AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Invesiments In Asscciates and Joint Ventures
and AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements
Standards (effective 1 January 2013)

in Augusi 2011, the AASB issued a suite of five new and amended slandards which address the accounting for joint
arrangemenls, consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures.

AASB 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consalidation in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, and Interpretation 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. The core principle that a consolidated entity
presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a single economic entity remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of
consolidation. However the standard introduces a single dsfinition of control that applies to all entities. It focuses on the need
{o have both power and righls or exposure to variable relurns before control is present. Power is the current ability to direct the
activities that significantly influence returns, Returns must vary and can be positive, negative or both. There is also new
guidance on participating and prolective rights and an agent/principal relationships. While the group does not expect the new
standard to have a significant impact on its composition, it has yet to perform a detailed analysis of the new guidance in the
context of its various investees that may or may not be controlled under the new rules.

AASB 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting under the two new standards, AASB 10 and AASB 11, and
replaces the disclosure requirements currently found in AASB 128. Application of this standard by the group will not affect any
of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but will impact the type of information disclosed in relation to the
group's investments.

AASB 127 is renamed Separate Financial Statements and is now a standard dealing solely with separate financial
statements. Application of this standard by the group and parent entity will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the
financial statements, but may impact the type of informatian disclosed in relation to the parent's investments in the separale
parent entity financial statements.

The group does not expect to adopt the new standards before their operative date. They would therefore be first applied in the
financial statements for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014.

(i) AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 13 (effective 1 January 2013)

AASE 13 was released in September 2011. It explains how to measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value disclosures.
The group does not use fair value measuremenis extensively. It is therefore unlikely that the new rutes will have a significant
impact on any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements. However, application of the new standard will impact the
type of information disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The group does not intend to adopl the new standard
before its operative date, which means that it would be first applied in the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014.

{iv) AASB 2011-9 Amendmenis to Australian Accounting Standards — Presentation of ltems of Other Comprehensive
Income (effective 1 July 2012} ) )

In September 2011, the AASB made an amendment to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements which requires
enlities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income into two groups, hased on whether they may be recycled
to profit or loss in the future. This will not affect the measurement of any of the items recognised in the balance sheet or the
profit or loss in the current period. The group intends to adopt the new standard from 1 July 2012,
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(v) AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard - Offsetling Financial Assels and Financial Liabilities and
AASB 2012-2 Disclosures -Offselting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities {effective 1 January 2014 and 1 January 2013
respectively}

In June 2012, the AASB approved amendments to the application guidance in AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Presentation, to clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the balance sheet.
These amendments are effective from 1 January 2014. They are unlikely to affect the accounting for any of the entity's current
offsetting arrangements. However, the AASB has also introduced mare axtensive disclosure requirements into AASE 7 which
will apply from 1 January 2013. When lhey become applicable, the group will have io provide a number of additional
disclosures in relation 1o its offsetting arrangements. The group intends to apply the new rules for the first time In the financial
year commencing 1 July 2013

(z} Parent entity financial information

The financial information for the parent entity, Virtus Health Pty Limited, disclosed in note 35 has been prepared on the same
basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set oul below.

ti)  Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities

Investrments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entilies are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of Virtus
Health Pty Limited. Dividends received from associales are recognised in the parent entity's profit or loss, rather than being
deducted from the carrying amount of these investments.

(i)  Tax consolidation fegisiation o
Virtus Health Pty Limited and its wholly owned Australian controlled enlilies have imptemented the tax consolidation
lagislation.

The head entity, Virtus Health Pty Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their_ own
current ang deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if gach entity in the lax consolidated group continues
to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Virtus Health Pty Limited also recognises the current tax iiabilitigs {or
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in
the tax consolidated group.

The wholly owned entities fully compensate Virtus Health Pty Limited for any current lax payable assumed and are
compensated by Virtus Health Pty Limitad for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating lo unused tax losses
or unused tax credits that are transferred to Virtus Health Ply Limited under the tax consolidation legislation. These amounts
are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly owned entities’ financial statements,

The tax amounts receivable/payable are due upon request from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practif:ablq aﬂpr
the end of each financial year, The head entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its
obligations to pay tax instalments.

Assets or liabilities arising with tax consolidated entities are recognised as current amounts receivable from or payable to
other entities in the group.

Any diffarence between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable are recognised as a contribution to (or
distribution from) wholly owned tax consolidated entities.

(fil}  Financial guarantees o
Where the parent entity has provided financtal guaraniees in relation to loans an¢ payables of subsidiaries for no
compensation, the fair values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the
investment,

(iv) Share-based payments )
The grant by the company of options over its equity instruments fo the employees of subsidiary undertakings in lhe group is
treated as a capital contribution to that subsidiary undertaking. The fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant dale fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit ta equity.
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2 Financial risk management

The group's aclivities expose it 1o a variety of financial risks: market risk {including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk},
credit risk and liquidity risk. The group's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the group. The group uses derivative financial
instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge certain risk exposures. Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes,
i.e. not as trading or other speculative instruments. The group uses different metheds to measure different types of risk to which
it Is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of inlerest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, aging
analysis for credil risk.

The group's management of financial risk is aimed at ensuring net cash flows are sufficient to:
o Meet all its financial commitments as and when they fall due; and
+ Maintain the capacity to fund acquisitions and lechnological upgrades

The group holds the following financial instruments:

2012 2011
$°000 £'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,439 6,963
Trade and other receivables 8,475 7,230
Qther financial assets 241 208
Derivative financial instruments - 138
Investments 3,913 3822
Total financial assels 22,068 18,361
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payable 15,450 13,289
Deferred revenue 3,973 3,338
Borrowings/Interest bearing liabilities 103,507 117,587
Derivative financial instruments 3,247 2,387
Total financial fiabilities 126,147 136,611

(a} Market risk

(iy  Cash flow and falr value inferest rate risk

The group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at varlable rates expose the group to
cash flow interest rate risk, Borrowings issued at fixed rales expose the group to fair value interest rate risk if the borrowings are
carried at fair value, Group policy is to mainlain approximately 75% of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to
achieve this when necessary.

As at the end of each reporting period, the group had the following variable rate borrowings and interest rate swap contracts
outstanding:

30 June 212 30 June 2011
Weighted Weighted
average average
interest rate Balance interest rate Balance
% $°000 % $'000
Bank overdrafis and bank loans 8.10 % 102,943 8.14 % 116,574
Interest rate cap 7.86 % (6,435) 7.86 % (31,098)
Interest rate swaps {notional principal amount) 6.36 % {60,183} 8.31% {62,153)
Net expostire to cash flow interest rate risk 36,325 23,323

The group manages its cash flow interest rale risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps have
the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. Generally, the group raises long-term borrowings
at floating rales and swaps them into fixed rates that are lower than those available if the group borrowed at fixed rates directiy.
Under the interest rate swaps, the group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervais {mainly quarterly), the
difierence between fixed contract rates and floafing rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agraed notional principal
amounts. The interest rate caps limit the maximum interest rate on a nominated amount of the facility.
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Group Sensiivity

Al 30 June 2012, if interesl rates had changed by +/~ 100 basis points from the year end rates with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $236,000 higherflower (2011 - change of 100 bps: $81,600 higher/lower),
mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on bank |oans.

{b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, favourable derivative financial
instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credil exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables and committed transactions. The group does not have any material exposure to any individual customer or
counlerparty, other than Medicare (Gavernment body) and private health funds. There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk within the group.

Receivable balances and ageing analysis are monitored on an ongoing basis. In order to minimise the group'_s exposure to bad
debts, rigorously enforced processes are in place to send reminder notices, demands for repayment and ultimately to refer to
debt collection agencies.

(c} Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the avai!abilily'c_)f funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and close out market pps&tlons. The -
group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities.

Financing arrangements . )
The group had access 1o the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of each reporting period:

2012 2011
$'000 $000
Floating rate 5,451 8 444
- Expiring beyond one year (bank loans ; .
PN Y vear ) 5461 8,444

The Group has total facilities of $25 million in the form of a capital expenditure facility of $20 million and a waorking capital facliily
of £5 million. As at 30 June 2012, the drawdown on the capilat expenditure facillties is $18,031,514. Drawdowns of 32.§03,952‘1n
the form of financial guarantees have been made against the working capital facility. Subject to the continued compliance with
debt covenants, the bank facilities may be drawn at any time and have an average maturity of 2 years {2011:3 years)

Maturities of financial liabilities )

The tables below analyse the Group's financial Fabilities, net and gross setfied derivative financial instruments into relevant
maturily groupings based on the remaining period al the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

For interest rate swaps the cash fiows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the ead of each reporting
period.
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Contractuat maturities of financial liabliities Less than 6-12  Between Between Over5 Total Carrying
6 months months Jand2 2and§ years contractual Amount
years years cash flows [(assots)/
ltabilities
At 30 June 2012 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 £'000 $7000
Trade and other payables 15,450 - . - - 15,450 15,450
Deferred revenue 3,913 - “ - - 3,973 3,973
Bank loans 11,250 11,070 104,354 - - 126,674 102,943
Lease liabilities 142 115 166 216 - 639 564
Derivative financial instruments - - 3,217 - - 3,217 3217
Financial liabilities 30,815 _ 11,185 107,737 216 - 149,953 126,147
AL 30 June 2011
Trade and other payables 13,299 - - - - 13299 13,298
Deferred revenue 3,338 - - - - 3,338 3,338
Bank loans 11,541 1,256 21,657 104411 - 148,865 116,574
Lease Habilities 319 197 285 350 4 1,166 1,013
Derivative financial instrumenls - - - 2387 - 2,387 2,387
Financial liabilities 28,497 11,453 21,842 107,148 4 169,045 136,611

{d} Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial fiabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes, Derivative contracts classified as held for trading are fair valued by comparing the contracted rate 1o the current market
rate for a contract with the same remaining peried to maturity.

The fair value of financial instruments that are nat traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives and
investments in uniisted subsidiaries) is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and
makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate
swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed {o approximaie their fair values due
to their short lerm nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the fulure
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for stmilar financial instrumenis.

As of 1 July 2010, Virtus Health Pty Limited adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: This requires disclosure of
fair value measurements by leve! of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

{a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in aclive markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1),

(b}inputs other than quolted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly (as prices) or
indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2),and

{¢} inputs for the asset or liability that are rot based on observable market data {unobservable inputs) (level 3}).

The follawing tables present the group’s assets and liabifities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2012 and 30 June
2011,

At 30 June 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$°000 $'000 $'000 %'000
Assets
Darivatives financial instruments - - - ot

Total assetis . - -

Liabilities
Derivatives financial Habilities - 3,217 - 3,217
Total liabilities - 3,247 - 3,247
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At 30 June 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Assels
Derivatives financial instruments - 138 - 138
- 138 - 138
Total assets
Liabilities
Other financiai liability - - - -
Derivatives financial liabilities - 2387 - 2,387
Total liabilities - 2.387 - 2387

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivalives, and {radjng and
available-for-sale securilies) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. These instruments are included
in level 1,

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques. The group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market
condilions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used
to estimate fair value for long term debt for disclosure purposes. Other techniques, such are estimated discounted cash flows,
are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the
present value of the estimated fuure cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward
exchange market rates at the end of the reporting period. These instruments are included in level 2 and comprise debt
instruments and derivative financial instruments. In the circumslances where a valuation technique for these instruments is
based on significant unobservable inputs, such instruments are included in level 3.

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

{a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulling accounting estimates will, by deﬁnition, seldom
equal the related actual results. Tha estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 2 material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

() Impairment of goodwill

The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note
1(h). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating unils have been determined based on value-in-use calculations, These
calculations require the use of assumptions, Refer to note 16 for details of these assumptions and the potential impact of changes
to the assumptions.

(i) Share based paymenl transaclions

The group measures the cost of equity settled fransactions with amployees by reference to the fair value‘o.f equity inslrunjent:s. a1
the date they were granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binominal pricing mode!, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, as discussed in Note 34.

(iii) Provisional accounting of business combinations

The group provisionally accounts for certain business combinations whaere it Is in the process of ascertaining the fair value of
identifiable assels, fiabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. In doing so, the group relied on the best estimate of the
identifiable assets, liabiliies and contingent liabilities, as disclosed in Note 28, until the quantification and treatment of items
under review is complele.
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4 Revenue

From continuing operations

Rendering of services
Rents and sub-lease rentals
Interest

5 Other income

Trial grants
Other revenue

6 Expenses

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Dapreciation
Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment under finance leases
Medical equipment
Office squipment
Furniture and filtings
Total depreciation
Amortisation
Brand names
IT Development and software
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation expense

Finance expenses
Interest expenses
Revaluation of interest rate swaps (net)
Amortisation of bank facility fees
Finance charge payable under finance leases
Tolal Finance costs

Total rental expense relating to operaling leases
Share based payment expense

inventory expense

Superannuation contribulions

Research and development!
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2012 2011
$'000 $'000
163,476 130,845
1,210 586
433 466
165,118 131,897
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
187 125
182 892
369 817
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
2,963 2,319
346 617
1,627 1,103
503 383
167 63
5,626 4,495
810 B78
2,436 2,904
3,346 3,782
8,972 8,277
11,845 12,621
968 (870)
350 894
133 166
13,796 12,611
6,841 5,555
516 525
2,052 1,796
3,159 2594
2,806 3,118



Virtus Health Pty Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

30 June 2012
{continued)
7 Income tax expense
2012 20114
$'000 $'000
{a) lncome tax expense:
Current {ax 9,318 6,514
Deferred tax {1,430) (656)
Adjustments lo current tax in relation to prior periods (1,175) (1.573)
6,713 4,285
Deferred income tax (revenue) expense included in income tax expense comprises:
Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets (note 15} (1,857} (361)
(Decrease} Increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 20} 227 {295)
{1,430} {656)
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense 26,373 19,622
Tax at the Australia te of 30% 11 - 309
u ian lax rate of 30% (20 0%} 7,012 5.887
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductibie {taxabte) in calculating taxable income:
Entertainment 1 22
Share-based payments 134 188
Research and development {169) (239)
7,888 5,858
Adjustments for current tax of prior years (1,175) (1,673}
Income tax expense 6,713 4,285
8 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Cash al bank and in hand 9,439 6,963
9,439 6,963

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year

The above figures are reconcilad to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows as
foliows:

2012 2011

$'000 §'000
Balances as above 9,439 6,963
Balances per consolidaled statement of cash flows 9,439 6,963

(a) Risk exposure

The group's exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 2. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting
period Is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivatents mentioned above.

27



Virtus Health Pty Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

30 June 2012
{continued)
9 Current assets - Trade and other receivables
2012 2011
£'000 $000
Trade receivables : 6,798 5,715
Provision for impairment of receivables (a) {752) (771}
6,046 4944
Other receivables 2,428 2,286
Prepayments 1,138 961
9,613 8,191

{a) Impaired trade receivables

As al 30 June 2012 current trade recelvables of the group with a nominal value of $900,000 (30 June 2011 - $1,112,000) were
impaired. The amount of the provision was $752,000 (30 June 2011 - $771,000).

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2012 2011
$'000 $'000
1 to 3 months - 40
3 to 6 months 504 897
Over 6 months 396 175
a00 1,142
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:
2012 2011
$000 $'000
At 1 July 71 339
Provision for impairment recognised during the year 445 735
Receivables wrilten off during the year as uncollectible {464) (30_;51)_
752 7

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in 'other expenses' in profit or loss. Amounts
charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

(b) Past due but notimpaired

Receivables thal are past due but not impaired are as follows:

2012 2011

$'000 £'000
1 to 3 months 2.411 814
2,411 814

10 Current assets - Inventories

2012 2011

$'000 $'000
Finished goods — at cost - 120
- 120

28



Virtus Health Pty Limited
Notes to the consolidated financlal statements

30 June 2012
{continued}
11 Non-current assets — investments accounted for using the equity method
2012 2011
$'000 $000
Interest in associates (note 31) 3,913 3,822
3,913 3822
12 Non-current assets — other financial assets
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Securily deposits 241 208
241 208
13 Derivative financial instruments
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Non-current assets
Interest rate swap contracts - cash flow hedges ((a){i)) - 138
Total non-current derivative financial instrument assets : 138
Non-Current liabilities
Interest rate swap and cap conlracts — cash flow hedges ((a)(i)) {3.217) (2,387}
Total non-current derivative financial instrument liabilities (3,217) {2,387)

{a} Instruments used by the group

The group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in crder lo hedge exposure to fluctuations in
interest and foreign exchange rates in accordance with the group's financial risk management policies (refer (o note 2).

(i) Interest rate swap contracts - cash flow hedges

Bank loans of the group currently bear an average variable interest rale of 8.10% {2011: 8.14%). It is policy to protect par of l_he
loans from exposure to increasing interest rates. Accordingly, the Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under \INhICh
it is obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to pay interest at fixed rates and an interest rate cap which limits the maximum
interest rate payable on a loan to a pre-determined interest rate.

Interest rate swaps and the interest rate cap currently in place cover at least 75% (2011: 75%) of the loan principal outstanding e;nd
are timed to expire as each loan repayment falls due. The fixed interest rates range petwaen 4.74% and 7.86% (2011: 4.74% -
7.86%) and the variable rales are set at the 90 day bank bill swap rate updated quarterly which at balance date was 3.49% (2011
4.89%).

The contracts require setfiement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days. The settlement dates coincide with the dates
on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. The contracts are seltled on a net basis.

The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instruments is recognised in the statement of cormprehensive income.  In the year
ended 30 June 2012 a net loss of $967,778 was recognised in finance costs (2011: net profit of $869,668).
{b) Risk exposures and fair value measurements

information about the group's exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange and interest rate risk and about the methods qnd
assumptions used in determining fair values is provided in note 2. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting
period is the carrying amount of each class of derivative financial assets mentioned above.
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Leasehold Plant and Medical Furniture and
Improvements  Equipment equipment Fittings Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 30 June 2011
Cost or fair value 19,387 1,990 7.949 1,662 401 31,388
Accumulated depreciation {5,381} {1,644} {3,074} (919} {202}, (11,230}
Net book amount 13,996 346 4875 743 199 20,159
Year ended 30 June 2011
Opening net book amount 12,559 963 3.284 797 153 17,756
Acquisition of subsidiary - - 282 44 31
Additions 4274 . 2427 315 89 7,106
Disposals (518) - (15) (20) (11) (564)
Depreciation charge (2,318} (617} (1,103} {383) (63} {4,495}
Closing net book amount 13,996 346 4,875 743 198 20,158
At 30 June 2012
Cost or fair value 21,621 1,990 12,295 2,373 1,173 39,452
Accumulated depreciation {8,374} (1,990} {4,701} {1,422} {369) {16,856}
Nel book amount 13.247 - 7,594 951 804 22,596
Year ended 30 June 2012
Cpening net book amount 13,996 346 4,875 743 199 20,159
Acquisition of subsidiaries/
businesses 38 - 498 8 -
Additions 2,198 - 3,856 799 772 7,623
Disposals - - (8) {98) -
Depreciation charge {2,983} {346} (1,627} {503) {167) {5,626)
Closing het book amount 13,247 - 7,594 951 804 22,536
15 Non-current assets - Deferred tax assets
2012 2011
$°000 $'000
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Employee benefits 1,837 1,457
Other
Doubtful debts 226 231
Make good provision 703 564
Accruals 591 418
Financial derivatives 865 675
Other 1,517 818
Totai deferred tax assets 5,839 4,163
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (Note 20) (2.510} (2,737)
Net deferred 1ax assels 3,329 1,426
Dreferred tax assets expecled to be recovered within 12 months 817 648
Deferred tax assels expected to be recovered after more than 12 months 5,022 3,515
5,839 4,163
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Movements

At 30 June 2010

Credited to the statement of comprehensive income
Acquisition of subsidiary

At 30 June 2011

Credited to the statement of comprehensive income
Acquisition of subsidiary
At 30 June 2012

16 Non-current assets - intangible assets

At 30 June 2011

Cost

Accumulaled amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

Year ended 30 June 2011
Cpening net book amount
Acquisition of subsidiary
Additions

Disposals

Amortisalion charge
Closing net book amount

At 30 June 2012

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

Year ended 30 June 2012

Opening net book amount

Acquisition of subsidiaries/ businesses
Additions

Disposals

Amortisation charge

Closing net book amount

{a} Impairment tests for goodwill

Virtus Health Pty Limited
Motes to the consolidated financial statements

Goodwill is allocated to the group's cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according lo operating segment.

A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below.

2012

Goodwill

2011

Goodwill

30 June 2012
(continued)
Employee
benefits Gther Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
1,197 2571 3,768
242 119 361
18 16 34
1,457 2,706 4,163
365 1,292 1,657
15 4 19
1,837 4,002 5839
Brand Names Goodwill Software Total
$000 $°000 $°000 $°000
9,085 299,196 9,074 317,365
{2226} - (5.323) {7,549)
6,869 299,196 3.751 309,816
7257 289,445 5,373 302,075
490 9,751 - 10,241
- - 1,282 1,282
(878) - (2,904) (3,782}
6,869 299,196 3,751 309,816
3,095 304,357 9,972 323,424
{3,136) - (7,759} {10,895}
5.859 304 357 2,213 312,528
6,869 299,196 3,751 309,816
- 5,161 - 5,161
- . 898 898
{(910) - {2 436) (3,346}
5.959 304 357 2,213 312,529
New South Victoria Queensiand Total
Wales
$'000 $°000 §'000 $'000
100,209 124,904 79,244 304,357
100,208 124,904 79,244 304,357
New South Victoria Queensland Total
Wales
$'000 $'000 3000 $'000
100,209 124,804 74,083 289,196
100,209 124,904 74,083 289,196
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The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the business.

(b) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

CGY Long Term Growth rate Pre Tax Discount rate
2012 2011 2012 2011
% % Ya %
New South Wales 3% 3% 16.0% 16.0%
Victoria 3% 3% 16.0% 14.9%
Queensland 3% 3% 16.0% 15.8%

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU within the business segment. The equily rates of return
and therefore discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. in performing the value-in-use
calculations for each CGU, the Group has applied post tax discount rates to discount the forecast future altributable post-tax
cash flows. The equivalent pre-tax discount rates are disclosed above.

(¢) Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

In considering the robustness of the valuation of goodwili, the long term growth rate was reduced to 2.5% and the.recoverable
amounts of the CGU's recalculated. In each CGU the recoverable amount of the goodwill exceeded lhe carrying vaiue by
material amounts. Management does not consider an adverse change in any of the other key assumptions to be reasonably
possible.

17 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables

2012 2011

$'000 $'000
Trade payables 5,765 4,499
Other payables 9,685 8,800

15,450 13,298

18 Current liabilities - Borrowings

2012 2011

£'000 $'000
Bank loans {(note 19) 14,000 17,947
Lease liabilitias (note 27) 2440 436
Total current borrowings 14,240 18,363

{(a) Security and fair value disclosures

information about the security relating to each of the secured liabilities and the fair value of each of the barrowings is provided
in note 19.

{b) Risk exposures

Delails of the group's expasure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings are set out in note 2.
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19 Non-current liabilities - Borrowings

Secured

Bank loans

Lease liabililies (nole 27)

Total secured non-current borrowings

Secured liabilities and assets pledged as security

The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:
Bank foans

Lease liabilities

Total secured liabilities

Virtus Health Pty Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2012

{continued}

2012 2011

$'000 $'000
88,943 98,627
324 577
89,267 99,204
102,943 116,574
564 1,013
103,507 117,587

The bank loans are secured by guarantees by all group companies and fixed and floaling charges over the Group's assels.

Lease liabiiities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assels recognised in the financial statements revert to the
tessor in the event of default. The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security are:

Current
Floating charge

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Inventories

Other financial assets

Total assets pledged as security

Non-current
Finance lease

Plant and equipment
Floating charge

invastments

Other financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Plant and equipment

Deferred tax assets

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets pledged as security

Total assets pledged as securily

2012 2011
$'000 000
9,439 6,983
9,613 8.191
- 120
19,052 15.274
. 348
3,913 3,822
241 208
- 138
22,586 19,813
3,329 1,426
312,528 309,816
342,608 335,568
361,660 350.843

The assets of Maroubra Day Surgery Pty Limiled, City West Day Surgery Pty Limited and Obste:lric:s & Gzngecologica!
Imaging Pty Limited are excluded from the assets pledged as security. However the shares representing the 50% interest are

included in the charges over the Group.

Risk exposures

Information about the Group's expasure to interest rate changes is provided in note 2.
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20 Non-current liabilities - Deferred tax liabilities

2012 2011
$°000 $'000
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Property, plant and equipment 722 675
Other
1,788 2,062
Intangible assets
Total deferred tax liabilities 2,510 2,737
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (note 15) {2,510) {2,737}
Net deferred tax liabilities = -
Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled within 12 months - -
Deferred lax liabilities expected to be setiled after more than 12 months {2,518) (2,737}
{2,510} (2,737)
Movements Property,
plant and  Intangible
equipment Assets Cther Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
AL 30 June 2010 648 2,177 59 2,884
Charged/(credited) 27 (263) (69) (295)
Acquisition of subsidiary . 148 - 148
At 30 June 2011 675 2,062 - 2,737
47 {274) - {227)
Charged/{credited)
At 30 June 2012 722 1,788 - 2,510
21 Liabilities - Provisions
2012 2011
$'000 $000
Current
1,561 1,080

Employee benefits - long service leave — (a) below

{a) Amounts not expected to be settied within the next 12 months

The current provision for long service leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the
required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The
entire amount Is presented as current, since the Group does not have an uncenditional right to defer setllement. However,
based on past experience, the Group does not expect all employees 1o take the full amount of accrued long service leave or
require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave thatis not expecied to be taken or paid within
the next 12 months.
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2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Leave obligations expected (o be settled after 12 months 1,117 780
2012 2011
Non-current $°000 $'000
Employee benefils - long service eave 1,286 1,031
Make good provision 2,345 1,880
3,641 2,911

Make good provision

The group has an obligation under property lease agreements o perform certain make good activities on the premises at the
end of the respective leases which expire between 2013 and 2020. A provision has been recognised for the present value of
the estimated expenditure required to remove certain leasehold Improvements. The provision will be utilised at the end of the
leases if they are not renewad. The estimated fulure cash outflow required to setile the obligation is discounted at 3.04%
(2011: 5.16%) per annum. These casts have been capitalised as part of the cost of leasehold improvements and are
amortised over the shorter of the term of the lease ar the useful life of the assets.

Movements in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Make good
provision
%000
Carrying amount at start of year 1,880
Additional provision recognised 170
Charged/(credited) to the profit or loss — 295
Carrying amount al end of year 2,345
22 Conftributed equity
2012 2011 2012 2011
Shares Shares $'000 $'000
{a) Share capital
Ordinary shares
Fully paid 53,644,738 53,324,938 184,815 183,309
53,644,738 53,324,938 184,815 183,309
{b) Movements in ordinary share capital
Number of Issue
Date Details shares price $'000
1 July 2010  Opening balance 48 613,257 170,360
1July 2010 QFG contingent consideration 3,878,579 $2.41 9,328
1 Jduly 2010 Subscriplion for new shares 150,558 $3.11 459
1 October 2010 Exercise 2008 options 35,816 $4.71 169
1 Qctober 2010 Share buy back (35,816) $4.71 (169)
1 March 2011 Shares issued — acquisition consideration 664,544 $4.71 3,130
1 March 2011 Exercise 2008 options 18,000 $1.75 32
30 June 2011 Balance 53,324,938 183,309
28 July 2011 Shares issued — acquisition consideration 212,315 $4.71 1,000
23 May 2012 Shares issued — acquisilion consideration 107,485 $4.71 506
30.une 2012  Balance 53,644,738 184,815
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(c) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares preserl al a meeting in person ar by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and
upon a poll each share is entified to one vote.

Ordinary shares have no par value and the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital,

(d) Options
information relating to the Group's share aption plans, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the
financial year and oplions outstanding at the end of the reporting period, is set out in note 34.

(e} Capltal risk management

The group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concer, so that they can
continue {0 provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure in
accordance with the group's financial facility agreements.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, sell assels to reduce debt or remit
excess cash to its debt providers. The capital structure and gearing ratios are as follows:

2012 2011
£000 $'000
Total borrowings 103,507 117,587
Less: cash and cash equivalents (9,439) {6,963)
Net debt 94,068 110.624
Total equity 224991 203,309
Total capitat 319,059 313,833
Gearing ratio 29% 35%
23 Reserves and retained earnings
2012 20114
$'000 $000
{a) Reserves
Share-based payments 3,259 2,743
3,259 2,743
Movements:
Share-based payments reserve
Balance at 1 July 2,743 2,287
QOplion expense 516 625
Issue of shares upon exercise of options - (169)
Balance 30 June 3,259 2,743
(b) Retained earnings
Movements in retained earnings were as follows:
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 17,257 1,920
Net profit for the year 19,660 15,337
Balance at 30 June 36,917 17,257

(¢} Nature and purpose of reserves

Share-based payments reserve . .
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued to employees and third parties but not

exercised,
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24 Key management personnel disclosures

{a) Directors

The following persons ware directors of Virtus Health Pty Limited during the financial year:
(i) Chairman - non -execufive

Marcus Darville

(i) Executive directors

Susan Channon, Chief Executive Officer, Virtus Health Pty Limited

Andrew Othen, Managing Direclor, Meiboumne IVF Pty Limited

John Moller, Managing Director, IVF Australia Pty Limited and Queensland Fertility Group Pty Limited
(iif) Non-executive direclors

Simen Pither

John McBain

Manuela Toledo (Alternate Director)

Michael Chapman (Alternate Direcior)

Frank Ciuinn

John Esler

Keith Harrison {Alternate Director)

{b) Other key management personnel

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group,
directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Name Position

Glenn Powers Chief Financial Officer and Secretary, Virtus Health Py Limited
Peter lliingworth Medical Director, IVF Australia Pty Limited

Lynden Hale Medical Director, Melbourne IVF Ply Limited

David Malloy Medical Director, Queensland Fertility Group Pty Limited

All of the above persons were also key management persons during the year ended 30 June 2011.

{c) Keymanagement personnel compensation

2012 2011
$ $
Short-term employee benefits™ 1,965,102 2,197,793
Post-employment benefits 134,051 127,646
Long-term benefits 94,209 140,478
Share-based payments 188,900 220,198

2,382,262 2,688,115

*Short-term employes benefits includes fees paid to contractors in respect of services provided in their capacity as a Medical
Director,

{(d) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

(i) Options provided as remuneralion ) .
Details of oplions provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with terms and
conditions of the options, can be found in Note 34,

(i) Option holdings

The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of Virtus Health Pty
Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.
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2012
Balance at
start of the
Name year

Directors of Virtus Health Pty Limited

Susan Channon 202,133
Michael Chapman 87,500
Frank Quinn 357,500
John Moller 241,491
Andrew Olhen 127,389
Other key managemen! persannel of the group
Peter lllingworth 457,150
Glenn Powers 312,527
2011

Balance at
Name start of the year
Directors of Virtus Health Pty Limited
Susan Channon 95,976
Michael Chapman 87,500
Frank Quinn 357,500
John Moller 241,491
Andrew Othen -

Other key management personnel of the group
Peter lllingworth 457,150
Glenn Powers 312,527

(i) Share holdings

Granted
as
compean-
sation

Granted
as
compens-
ation

106,157

127,389

Exercised

Exarcisad

Virtus Health Pty Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statemants

30 June 2012
(continued)
Vested and
Other Balance atend  axercisable  Unvested
changes  of the year
- 202,133 95,976 106,157
- 87,500 87,500 -
- 357,500 107,500 250,000
. 241,491 160,994 80,497
- 127,389 - 127,389
- 457,150 83,888 373,262
- 312,527 208,351 104,176
Other  Balance alend of Vested and

changes the year exercisable Urnvested
- 202,133 90,976 111,157
- 87,500 77,500 10,000
- 357,500 97.500 260,000
- 241,491 80,497 160,994
- 127,389 - 127,389
- 457,150 55,394 401,756
- 312,527 104,175 208,352

The numbers of ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of Virtus Health Pty Limited and
other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally refated parties, are set out below. There were no
shares granted during the reporting period as compensation.

2012

Name

Directors of Virtus Healith Pty Limited
Sue Channon

Michael Chapman

Frank Quinn

John McBain

Manuela Toledo

John Moller

John Esler

Keith Harrison

Other key management personnel of the group
Peter llingworth

Lyndon Hale

David Molloy
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Recelved
during the Other
Balance at  year on the changes Balance at the
the start of  exercise of during the end of the
the year options year year
529,146 - - 529,146
915,436 - - 915,436
1,127,702 - - 1,127,702
1,632,231 - - 1,632,231
778,620 - - 778,620
219,984 - - 219,984
509,830 - - 509,830
415,983 - - 415,983
287,847 - - 287,847
1,224,173 - - 1,224,173
667,900 . - 667,900
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2011 Raceived during
Balance at  the year on the
the start of exercise of  Otherchanges Balance at the

Name the year options during the year end of the year
Directors of Virtus Health Pty Limited

Sue Channon 509,644 - 19,502 529,146
Michael Chapman 881,698 - 33,738 915,436
Frank Quinn 1,086,141 - 41,561 1,127,702
John McBain 1,568,684 - 65,547 1,632,231
Manuela Toledo 737,294 - 41,326 778,620
John Moller 160,994 - 58,980 219,984
John Esler 373,116 - 136,714 509,830
Keith Harrison 304,435 - 111,548 415,983
Other key management personnel of the group

Peter lilingworth 277,238 - 10,609 287,847
Lyndon Hale 1,175,013 - 49,160 1,224,173
David Molloy 488,799 - 179,101 667,900

{e) Other trading transactions with key management personnel

A director, Mr Michaet Chapman, is a director and shareholder of Bridgemyth Pty Limited, [VF Australia Pty Limited entered ino
a contract with Bridgemyth Pty Limited to renl property at St George Private Hospital, Kogarah commencing 1 July 2005. The
contract expired on 30 June 2009. IVF Australia Pty Limited continued to use the property and make rental payments to
Bridgemyth Pty Limited from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010, The new contract was renegoliated and signed on 15 September
2010, which commences from 1 July 2010. The contract is based on normal commercial terms and condifions.

A director, Mr John Esler, is a director and shareholder of Dendeen Pty Limited. Queensland Fertility Group Pty Limited entered
into a contract with Dendesn Ply Limited to renl property at 9 Scot! Street, Toowoomba commencing 1 August 2007. The contract
is based on normal commercial terms and conditions.

A director, Mr Keith Marrison is a director and shareholder of Keith Harrison Pty Limited. Queensland Fertility Group Pty LIr_nited
entered into a contract with Keith Harrison Pty Limited to rent property at 225 Wickham Terrace, Brisbane commencing 1
September 2008. The contracl is based on normal commercial terms and conditions.

Aggregate amounts of each of the above types of other transaclions with key management personnel of Virlus Health Piy
Limited:

2012 2011
$ $

Amounts recognised as revenue

Rental income for use of Virtus Heaith Pty Limited facilities 148,075 119,464
Amounts recognised as expense

Fees for provision of medical services and procedures 6,748,286 6,346,600
Rental expense in respect of property at St George Private Hospital, Kogarah 171,434 164,840
Rental expense in respect of property al 9 Scott Street, Toowoomba 58,124 56,851
Rental expense in respeci of property al 225 Wickham Terrace, Brisbane 26,640 49,861

7,005,494 6,618,152

At balance sheel date $186,796 was payable to kay management personnel of the Group {2011: $626,132).
{f) Capital transactions with key management parsonnel

Marcus Darville, a Director of the Company, has a beneficial interest in Quadrant, a company which beneficially owns 46.7% of
the issued ordinary shares of Virtus Health Pty Limited at 30 June 2012,
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25 Remuneration of auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related
practices and non-related audit firms:

2012 2011
$ %

PwC Australia
() Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial statements 485,000 307,500
Tolal remuneration for audit and other assurance services 485,000 307,500
(i) Taxation services

Tax compliance services 82,250 45,000

Other tax services - 34,700
Total remuneration for taxation services 82 250 79,700
(ilf} Other services

Accounting and other services - 50.817

It is Group policy to utifise appropriate accounting and consuiting resource for other services which may include tax advicel and
due diligence reporting on acquisitions, and it is Group policy to seek competitive tenders for such assignments as appropriate.

26 Contingencies

{a) Contingent liabilities
The Group had contingent liabilities al 30 June 2012 in respect of:

() Cilaims

Group companies are currently invelved In litigations which may resultin fulure fiabilities and legal feas up to an iNSUTance excess
of $50,000. The company has disclaimed Hability and is defending the actions. 1tis not practical 1o estimate the potentiat effect
of these claims but advice indicates that any liahility that may arise in the uniikely event that the claims are successiul will not be
significant and will be covered by the Group's insurance policies.

(ii) Guarantees

in addition to he secured loans, the Group has additional faclities in the form of a Working Capital faciiity of $25 million and &
Capital Expenditure facility of $20.0 million. As at the dale of signing this report the drawdown on tha capital expenditure facility is
$18,031,514. Drawdowns of $2,503,952 in the form of financial guarantees have been made against the working capital facility.
Subject to the continued compliance with debt covenants, the bank facifities may be drawn at any time and have an average
maturity of 2 years (2011: 3 years}.

(iii} Associates
For contingent liabilities refating to associates refer to note 31.

27 Commitments

{a) Capital commitments

Capital expendilure contracted for at the end of each reporting period but not recognised as liabililies is as follows:

2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment
Payable:
Within one year 236 473
236 473
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{b} l.ease commitments: group as lessee

{i} Non-cancellable operating leases

The group leases various offices and medical centres under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within two to eight
years. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are
renegotiated. Excess office space is sub-let to third parties also under non-canceliable operating leases.

2012 2011
$'000 $o00
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases
are payable as follows:
Within one year 5,559 5,833
Later than one year but not later than five years 12,761 16,043
Later than five years 1,600 3877
19,920 25,753
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Sub-lease paymenls
Future minimum lease payments expected to be received in relation fo non-canceliable
sub-leases of operating leases 61 122
{ii} Finance leases
2012 2011
$°000 $'000
Commilments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:
Within one year 285 516
Later than one year but not later than five years 354 640
Later than five years - -
Minimum lease paymenis 639 1,156
Future finance charges (75) (143}
Recognised as a liability 564 1,013
Representing lease liabilities:
Current (note 18} 240 436
Non-current {note 19) 324 577
564 1,013

28 Related party transactions

{a) Parent entity
The parent entity within the Group is Virtus Health Ply Limited.

(b} Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 30.

{c) Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management persorinel are set out in note 24.

(d} Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:
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2012 2011
$ §

Share of profits (losses) of associales

Maroubra Day Surgery Pty Limited 855,041 919,501
Obsletrics & Gynaecological Imaging Pty Limited 6,433 (43,088)
City West Day Surgery Pty Limited 574,298 188,763
Other transactions

Fees paid to refated party for services (o the Board of the ultimate Australian parent entity 50,000 50,000

(e) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services

The following balances are outstanding at the end of each reporting period in refation to transactions with related parties:

2012 2011
] 5

Current receivables (sales of goods and services)
Associates 580,731 188,763
Current payables (purchase of goods)
Associales (26,640) (43,088}
Distributions received in advance
Associates {81,726) (243,075)

No provisions for doubtful debts have Deen raised in relation io any outstanding balances, and no expense has been
recognised in respect of bad or doubiful debts due from related partes.

{f) Transactions within the group

Virlus Health Pty Limited is responsible for group strategy and raising equity capital. IVF Finance Pty Limited is responsibie
for debt finance and making acquisitions on behalf of the group.  IVF Australia Pty Limited, The Heptarchy Trust, Queensland
Fertility Group Pty Limited and North Shore Specialist Day Surgery Pty Limited employ the medical and other staff Including
certain directors. The proceeds of any issue of shares by Virtus Health Pty Limited are passed to IVF Finance Ply Limited as
an interest free loan. IVF Finance Pty Limited uses the funds for acquisitions.

g) Guarantees
The group is party to bank facility cross guarantees.
{h} Terms and condltions

All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at markel rates, except that there are no
fixed terms for the repayment of loans between subsidiaries and the loans are interest free. Outstanding balances are
unsecured and are repayable in cash.

29 Business combination

{a) Summary of acquisitions
1. Acqguisition of Gold Coast IVF

On 29 July 2011 Virtus Health Pty Limited, through ils wholly owned subsidiary Queensland Fertility Group Pty Limited,
acquired 100% of the issued share capital Fertllity Gold Coasl Pty Limited.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assels acquired and goodwill are as follows:

$'000

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 3,557

Fair value of equity instruments issued 1,000

Fair value of equity instruments issued 506
Tota! purchase consideration 5063
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (refer to (b} below) i
Geodwill on acguisition — . AD52
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The acquired business contributed revenues and other income of $2,880,386 and net profit before tax of $756,184 (excluding
the cost of financing the transaction) to the Group for the period from 29 July 2011 to 30 June 2012, Ifthe acquisition had
occurred on 1 July 2011, consolidated revenue and other income and consolidated net profit before tax for the year ended 30
June 2012 would have been $3,142,230 and $824,928 respectivaly excluding any additional financing or brand amortisation
cosls. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the
subsidiary to reflect the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair value
adjustments to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 July 2011, together with the
consequential {ax effects.

2. Acquisition of Mackay Day Surgery

On 31 January 2012, Virus Health Pty Limited, through its wholly owned subsidiary Queenstand Fertility Group Pty Limited,
acquired the business, assets and liabilities of Mackay Day Surgery Pty Limited, The net assets acquired consisted of
$374,000 of plant and equipment, liabilities totalling $19,000 and $209,000 of goodwill.

The accounting for this acquisition is on a provisional basis.

3.  Acquisition of Hunter IVF

On 1 March 2011 Virtus Health Pty Limited, through its wholly owned subsidiary IVF Australia Ply Limited, acquired 100% of
the issued share capital and units of Hunter IVF Group Ply Limited.

Details of the purchase consideration, the nel assels acquired and gocdwill are as follows:

$'000
Purchase consideration
Cash patd 7,320
Fair value of equity instruments issued 3,130
Total purchase consideration — 10,450
Fair vaive of net identifiable assets acquired (refer to {b) below) €99
Goodwilt on acquisition — 8T

The acquired business contributed revenues and other income of $1,260,436 and net profit before tax of $565,567 {excluding
the cost of financing the transaction) {o the Group for the period from 1 March 2011 to 30 June 2011, I the acquisition had
occurred on 1 July 2010, consolidated revenue and other income and consolidated net profit before tax for the year ended 30
June 2011 would have been $4,176,694 and $1,449,852 respectively excluding any additional financing or brand
amortisation costs. These amounts have been calculated using the Group's accounting policies and by adjusting the results
of the subsidiary to reflect the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair value
adjusiments to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 July 2010, together with the
consequential {ax effects.

Included in the purchase consideration are 664,544 ordinary shares of Virtus Health Ply Limited valued at $4.71 per share.
The share price of $4.71 was based on a negotiated valuation of the business between the vendors of New South Wales VE
Group Pty Limiled and Virtus Health Pty Limited.

(b} Assets and liabilities acquired

1. Acquisition of Gold Coast IVF

Fair vaiue

£'000
Cash 86
Trade receivables 100
Plant, equipment and software 170
Deferred tax assets 19
Trade and other payables (104)
Defarred revenus {57}
Other provisions (54)
Provision for employee bensfits 9
Net assets . i

The goodwill is attributable to the reputation of Gold Coast IVF in Queensland, The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
are based on discounted cash flow models. No acquisition provisions were created.
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2.  Acquisition of Hunter IVF

Falr Value
$'000
Cash 414
Trade and other receivables 173
Cther current assets 15
Plant and equipment 357
Cther non-current assets -
Intangible assets: brand names 490
Deferred tax assels 34
Trade and other payables {193)
Deferred revenue {(106)
Deferred tax fiability {148)
Other provisions {259)
Provision for employee benefils 78}
Net assets — . 598

The goodwill is attributable to the reputation of Hunter IVF Pty Limited in New South Wales. The fair vaiue of assets and
liabiliies acquired are based on discounled cash fiow models. No acquisition provisions were created.

30 Subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests
(a) Slgnificant Investments in subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assels, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance
with the accounting policy described in note 1(b).

Country of
Name of entity incorporation Class of shares Beneficial Interest
2012 2011
% %
IVF Finance Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
IVFA Sub-Holdings Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
IVF Australia Pty Limited Australia QOrdinary 100 100
Melbourne IVF Holdings Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
Melbourna VF Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
The Heptarchy Trust Australia Units 1480 100
North Shore Specialist Day Surgery Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
Queensland Fertility Group Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
IVF Australia Plan Management Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
North Shore ART Pty Limited Auslralia Ordinary 100 100
IVF Australia Participants Pty Limiled Australia Ordinary 100 100
IVF South Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
City West IVF Pty Limited Australia Crdinary 100 100
Spring Hill Specialist Day Hospital Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
The QF G Day Theatres Unit Trust Australia Units 100 100
Hunter IVF Pty Limited Auslralia Qrdinary 100 100
Hunter Fertility Unit Trust Australia Units 100 100
Queensland Fertility Group Gold Coast Ply Limited Australia Qrdinary 100 -
Gold Coast Qbstetrics & Gynaecology Specialist Services
Ply Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
Mackay Specialist Day Hospital Pty Limited Australia QOrdinary 100 -

The proportion of ownership interest is equal fo the proportion of voting power held.
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31 Interests in associates
(a) Investments In associates
Interesis are held in the following associates:
Unlisted Country of Principal Actlvities Ownership Carrying Amount of
Resldence Interest investment
2012 2011 2012 2011
£'000 $'0060
Maroubra Day Surgery Pty Australia Provision of medical 50% 50%
Limited services 2,400 2,400
Obstetrics & Australia Provision of medical 56% 50%
Gynaecological Imaging services
Australia Pty Limited 25 25
City West Day Surgery Pty Australia Provision of medical . 50%
Limited services §0% 1,488 1,397
3,913 3,822
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Current assets 2,562 1,116
Nen-current assels 2,543 3479
Total assels 5108 4,595
Current liabilities (1,192) (773}
Non-current liabilities - -
Total liabilities (1,192) (773)
Share of assets employed in associates 3,913 3.822
Share of associates’ revenue, expenses and results
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Revenue 6,335 5,832
Expenses {4,898) {4,866}
Profit before income tax 1,436 1,066
Income tax expense - -
Profit after income tax 1,436 1,066

32 Events occurring after the reporting period

{a) Acquisition of Maroubra Day Surgery

On 7 August 2012, IVF Australia, a subsidiary of Virtus Health Pty Limited, acquired the remaining 50% share capital and
units of Maroubra Day Surgery Ply Limited for a cash consideration of $7,074,317, and was funded by a drawdown from the
Group capital expenditure facility and existing cash.

The financial effects of this transaction have not been brought to account at 30 June 2012. The operating results and assets
and liabllities of the company will be consolidated from 7 August 2012,

{b) Refinancing of the borrowing facility

On 16 August 2012, IVF Finance Pty Limited, a subsidiary of Virtus Heaith Pty Limited successfully renegotiated the ex&grnal
borrowing facility for a total of $225,000,000, with an expiry date of 17 Augusl 201 3. The funds were used to pay an ordinary
dividend of $45,833,685 (82 cents per ordinary share) on 17 August 2012. A capital return of $55,335,791 {99 cents per
ordinary share) was paid on the 7 September 2012.
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33 Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

Profit for the year

Depreciation and amortisation

Net loss on disposal of assels

Amortisation of bank facility fees

Interest on finance lease facilities

Share based payments expense

Share of net profits of associales

Dividend and interest income .

{Gain)/loss on revaluation of hedging Instruments

Unwinding of discount on deferred consideration on acquisition of subsidiary

Doubtful debts expanss

Other non-cash items

Change in operating assets and liabilities
(increase)/decrease in trade debtors
(increase)decrease in inventories
(Increase)decrease in deferred lox assels
(Decrease)increase in trade creditors
{Decrease)fincrease in deferred revenue
Increase/{decrease) in provision for income taxes payable
(Decrease)increase in other provisions

Net cash inflow from operating activities

During the year, the company issued $1,506,000 of new equily as part of the payment for Queensland Fertil

Coast Pty Limited.

46

2012 2011
$'000 $'000
19,660 15,337
8,972 8,277
104 53
850 594
133 122
516 625
(1,436) (1,066)
{433} {486)
968 (870)
- 166
- 144
(34) 3
{1,322) (3,650)
120 4
(1,885) (543)
2,841 2,282
580 (2,999)
{1,602) 4,776
1,079 {(114)
29,111 22 769
ity Group Gold
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34 Share-based payments

(a) Employee Optlon Plan
Virtus Health Share Option Plan

The Virtus Health Share Option plan was adopted by the Board on 12 November 2008. The plan was
established to reward, retain and molivale doctors and senior employees through recognition of their
abilities, performance and contributions. Paricipation in the plan is at the Board's discretion and no
individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits. Key
features of the plan are as follows:

Options are vested in equal instalments over a two to four year period, subject to performance condilions.

Once issued, options remain exercisable for a period of ten years. Options are granted under the plan at an
exercise price equal 1o marke! value at the Ume of grant. Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or
voting rights. No option holder has any right under the oplions to participate in any other share issue of the
company or any other enlity,

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
IVF Australia Restructuring Plan

The IVF Australia Resiructuring Share Option plan was adopted by the Board on 10 April 2008. The plan
was established o reward, retain and molivate doctors and senior employees through recognition of their
abilities, efforts and contributions. The plan is now closed for further option grants. Participation in the plan is
at the Board's discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any
guaranteed benefits. Key fealures of the plan are as follows:

Options are vested in equal inslalments over a two Lo four year period, subject lo performance conditions.

Once issued, options remain exercisable for a period of ten years. Options are granted under the plan at a
various exercise prices as sel out below. Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.
No option holder has any right under the oplions to participate in any ather share issue of the company or
any other entity.

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
Melbourne IVF Rastructuring Share Option Plan

The Melbourne IVF Restructuring Share Option plan was adopted by the Board on 13 November 2008. The
plan was established to reward, retain and motivate doclors and senior employees aof Melboume IVF Pty
Limiled through recognition of their abilities, efforts and contributions. The plan is now closed for further
option grants. Under the plan, participants are granted options under time based and performance based
vesting conditions. Participation in the plan is at the Board's discration and no individual has a contractual
right 1o parlicipate in he plan or lo recelve any guaranteed benefils. Key fealures of the plan are as follows:

Options are vested in equal inslalments over a 3 year period, subject to performance conditions.

Once issued, options remain exercisable for a period of fen years. Options are granted under‘the plan for no
consideration. Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights. No option holder has
any right under the options o participate in any other share issue of the company or any other entity,

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
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Set oul below are summaries of options granted under the pians:
Vested
and
Balance Granted Exercise Forfeited Balance exercisabl
Exercis atstartof during dduring during atendof eat end of
Grant Date Expiry date e price the year theyear theyear the year the year  the year
Number Number Number Number Number Number

Consolidated 2012

Virtus Health Plan
12-Nov-08 12-Nov-18  $4.12 312,527 - - - 312,527 208,351
25-Feb-09 25-Feb-19  $4.12 44,000 - - - 44,000 27,333
1-Jul-09 1-Jul-19 $3.11 450,000 - - . 450,000 152,687
1.0et-00 1-Oct-19 $3.11 244,401 . . - 241,491 160,993
1-Jul-10 1-Jul-20 $4.71 327,389 - - 327,389 -
1-Sep-10 1-Sep-20 $4.71 106,157 - - - 106,157 -
1-Jul-11 1-Jul-14 $5.17 - 258,027 - - 268,027 -
IVF Australia Restructuring Plan
10-Apr-08 16-Feb-15  $1.64 60,976 . . - 60,978 60,976
10-Apr-08 1-Jan-16  $3.15 183,496 . - 183,496 183,496
10-Apr-08 14-Feb-17  $3.15 216,075 - - - 216,075 216,075
10-Apr-08 1-Jan-18 $3.26 228,100 - - - 228,100 228,100
10-Apr-08 10-Apr-18  $2.98 9,000 - - - 8,000 6,660
10-Apr-08 10-Apr-18  $2.53 1,550,000 - . - 1,550,000 -
10-Apr-08 10-Apr-18  $0.01 403,536 - “ - 403,536 -
Melbourne IVF Restructuring Share Option Plan
20-Nov-08 20-Nov-1  $0.00
B 272,470 - - . 272470 272470
Total 4405217 258,027 - . 4.663,244 1,517,121
Weighted average exercise price $2.66 $5.17 - - $2.80 $3.27
Consolidated 2011
Virtus Health Plan
12-Nov-08 12-Nov-18  $4.12 312,527 - - - 312,527 104475
25-Feb-09 25-Feb-19  $4.12 44,000 - - - 44,000 13,666
1-Jul-09 1-Jul-19 $3.11 450,000 - - - 450,000 -
1-Oct-09 1-Qct-19  $3.11 241,491 - . - 241,491 80,497
1-Jul-10 1-Jul-20 $4.71 - 327389 - . 327,389 -
1-Sep-10 1-Sep-20  $4.71 - 106,157 - - 108,157 -

IVF Australia Restructuring Plan

10-Apr-08 16-Feb-15  $1.64 60,976 - - - 80,976 60,976
10-Apr-08 1-Jan-16  $3.15 193,496 - (6.000) (4,000) 183,496 183,496
10-Apr-08 14-Feb-17  $3.15 216,075 - - - 216,075 154,042
10-Apr-08 1-Jan-18  $3.26 238,100 - (10,000) - 228,100 146,802
10-Apr-08 10-Apr-18  $2.98 11,000 - {2,000 - 8,000 6,660
10-Apr-08 10-Apr-18  $2.53 1,550,000 . . - 1,550,000 -
10-Apr-08 10-Apr-18  $0.01 403,536 . - - 403,536 -
Melbourne IVF Resiructuring Share Option Plan

20-Nov-08 20-Nov-18 3000 398 287 ._(35816) _(20,001) 272470 272,470
Total 4049488 433646 (53.816) _(24,001) 4,405.217 1,022,784
Weighted average exercise price $2.41 $4.71 $1.07 §0.52 $2.66 $2.39

No oplions expired during the periods covered by the above tables.

The weighled average remaining contractual life of share options culstanding at the end of the period was 6.25 years
(2011 = 7.07 years).
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Virtus Health Pty Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2012

{continued)

Fair value of options granted
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2012 s set out as follows:

Virtus Health Share
Option Plan
Grant date 1 July 2011
Fair value per option at grant date $0.77-%0.78

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Binomial Option Valuation Model.

The assessed fair value al grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2011 is set out befow:

Virtus Health Share Virtus Health Share
Option Plan Options Plan
Grant date 1 July 2010 1 September 2010
Fair value per option at grant date $0.42 - $0.43 $0.40- $0.41

The fair value at grant dale is independently determined using a Binomial Option Valuation Modei.

{b) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

Tolal expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the pericd as part of employee benefit
expense were as follows:

2012 2011
$°000 $'000
Options issued under employee option plan 516 825
516 625
35 Parent entity financial information
(&) Summary financial information
The individuat financial stalements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:
2012 2011
$'000 $'000
Balance sheet
Current assels 824 908
Tolal assets 192,618 201,500
Current liabilities 13,256 21,383
Total liabilities 13,256 21,363
178,362 180,137
Shareholders’ equity
Contributed equity 184,815 183,309
Reserves
Share-based payments 2,891 2,585
Accumulaled losses (8.344) {5,767)
179,362 180,137
Profit (loss) for the year {2,577) 1,115
Total comprehensive income (loss) (2.577) 1,115
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(continued)

{b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity

Carrying amount included in current liabilities (refer to note 26 for the details of guarantees).

{¢) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

The parent entity did not hava any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011. For information about guarantees
given by the parent enfity, please see above.

{d) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment

As at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011, the parent entity had no contractual commitments.

36 Franking Credits

2012 201
$'000 $'000
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% (2011:
30%) 32,078 23,065
32,079 23,065

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the reporting date, adjusted for franking credits that
will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax.
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Virtus Health Pty Limited
Directors' declaration

For the year ended 36 June 2012

In the directors' opinion:
a ,
(@) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 7 ta 50 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2007,
inciuding:

(iy complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Reguiations 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting requiremenits, and

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entily's financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date, and

{b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable, and

Nole 1a(i) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors,

\
.)\‘ \Y\’} (\/&Q?

Marcus Darville

Director

Sydney

31 October 2012
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Virtus Health Pty Limited

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Virtus Health Pty Limited (the company), which
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2012, and the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary
of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for the Virtus
Health Pty Limited Group (the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises the company
and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1(a)(},
the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards-

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, These Anditing Standards require that we
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion,

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1171
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8260 9999, LAUW. PWC.COM.AU

Liabilisy limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards 1egislation,
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Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Virtus Health Pty Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June
2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

{ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
as disclosed in Note 1{a)(i}

Viceas &ter%cvsc Copeds
PricewaterhouseCoopers

e
Cidee p7

Eddie Wilkie Sydney
Partner 31 October 2012
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